DEC 17 2018

SUPREME COURT NO. S251392

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

CRC
8.25(b)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

MONSTER ENERGY COMPANY,

Plaintiff, Respondent, and Petitioner,

v.

BRUCE L. SCHECHTER, R. REX PARRIS LAW FIRM,

Defendants and Appellants.

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

From the Opinion of the Court of Appeal of the State of California,
Fourth Appellate District, Division Two, Case No. E066267
on Appeal from The Superior Court of California,
County of Riverside, Case No. RIC1511553
(Hon. Daniel A. Ottolia)

SHOOK, HARDY & BACON L.L.P.

Frank C. Rothrock (SBN: 54452; frothrock@shb.com)

Gabriel S. Spooner (SBN: 263010; gspooner@shb.com)

I. STATEMENT OF ISSUES

(1) When a settlement agreement contains confidentiality provisions that are explicitly binding on the parties and their attorneys and the attorneys sign the agreement under the legend “APPROVED AS TO FORM AND CONTENT,” have the attorneys consented to be bound by the confidentiality provisions?

(2) When evaluating a plaintiff’s probability of prevailing on its claim under Code of Civil Procedure section 425.16, subdivision (b), may a court ignore extrinsic evidence that supports the plaintiff’s claim, or accept the defendant’s interpretation of an undisputed but ambiguous fact over that of the plaintiff?

II. OVERVIEW AND SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This case presents issues arising from a settlement agreement (“Settlement Agreement”) reached in a wrongful death action brought against Monster by clients of Bruce L. Schechter and the R. Rex Parris Law Firm (“Attorneys”). The Settlement Agreement contains confidentiality provisions binding on both the settling parties and their attorneys. Mr. Schechter signed the agreement on behalf of Attorneys under the legend “APPROVED AS TO FORM AND CONTENT.” There is no dispute that the confidentiality provisions were material to

the settlement. Mr. Schechter conceded that Monster would not have entered into the Settlement Agreement without them. (CT at 119-120.)¹ And there is no dispute the confidentiality provisions were worthless if not binding on both Attorneys and their clients. There should also be no disagreement Monster presented a prima facie case that Mr. Schechter violated the confidentiality provisions by stating to the reporter for a plaintiff's blog that the wrongful death case had settled for "substantial dollars."

The first issue before the Court is whether Mr. Schechter's signature to the Settlement Agreement is sufficient for a trier of fact to find that Attorneys were bound by its confidentiality provisions. Or, as contended by Attorneys and held by the Court of Appeal, did this merely convey Attorneys' professional approval for their clients to sign the agreement? No prior published California appellate decision has addressed this issue. But the guidance available to California attorneys in leading textbooks and legal commentary indicates this language should be sufficient to bind Attorneys to the confidentiality

¹ "AR" will refer to the materials attached to Attorneys' Motion to Augment the Record, which was granted by the Court of Appeal on December 5, 2016.

"CT" will refer to the Clerk's Transcript.

"O.Br." will refer to the Opening Brief to the Court of Appeal by Attorneys.

"Opn." will refer to the decision in this case by the Court of Appeal.

"RT" will refer to the Reporter's Transcript of the proceedings in the trial court on June 15, 2016.

"SSCT" will refer to the Sealed Supplemental Clerk's Transcript.

provisions.² The Court of Appeal’s decision threatens to unwind or place in jeopardy confidentiality provisions in numerous settlement agreements resolving California-based litigation that were drafted consistent with this guidance.

For example, the Rutter Insurance Litigation Guide provides a form settlement agreement that contains a confidentiality provision binding on the parties and their counsel. It provides for the parties’ attorneys to sign below the same “Approved as to form and content” legend used in the Settlement Agreement. (Rutter Insurance Litigation Guide, *supra*, Form 15:C at p. 15-260 [¶ 19 and signature block].) The Rutan & Tucker anti-SLAPP article and the Rutter Employment Litigation Guide indicate an attorney for a settling party should be bound by a confidentiality provision in a settlement agreement that purports to bind the attorney, regardless of whether the attorney signs the agreement as a party or otherwise. The Rutter Employment Litigation Guide, for example, contains a form

² (See, e.g., Chin et al., Cal. Practice Guide: Employment Litigation (The Rutter Group 2017) Form 16:A, pp. 16-147 to 16-152 (hereafter “Rutter Employment Litigation Guide”));

Croskey et al., Cal. Practice Guide: Insurance Litigation (The Rutter Group 2017) Form 15:C, pp. 15-252 to 15-254 (hereafter “Rutter Insurance Litigation Guide”);

Lewis, Settlement Template <www.mediatorjudge.com/pg13.cfm> [as of Sept. 16, 2018] (hereafter “Lewis Settlement Template”);

Rutan & Tucker LLP, *First amendment/anti-Slapp did not insulate law firm from liability for violation of confidentiality clause in mediated settlement agreement* (July 2, 2013) <<http://www.lexology.com/library/detail.aspx?g=93f3f0cb-e179-42dd-9797-7615443a3f8e>> [as of Dec. 10, 2018] [attorney’s breach of a confidentiality provision is not protected by Code of Civil Procedure section 425.16; cited in Respondent’s Br. at 23] (hereafter “Rutan & Tucker anti-SLAPP article”).)

settlement agreement with a confidentiality provision binding on a settling employee and his or her attorneys without a place for the attorneys to sign the agreement. (Rutter Employment Litigation Guide, *supra*, Form 16:A at pp. 150 [¶ 10] and 152.)

Monster contends that Attorneys violated the terms of the Settlement Agreement's confidentiality provisions when Mr. Schechter told a reporter for a plaintiffs' blog (LawyersandSettlements.com) that the case had settled for "substantial dollars." Monster sued Attorneys for breach of the confidentiality provisions. Attorneys responded with an anti-SLAPP motion that was denied, in part, by the trial court. Attorneys appealed and the Court of Appeal reversed the trial court's order with directions to enter an order granting the anti-SLAPP motion in its entirety. (Opn. at 22.)

The Court of Appeal held Mr. Schechter's signature on the Settlement Agreement under the legend "APPROVED AS TO FORM AND CONTENT" was not sufficient to bind Attorneys to the confidentiality provisions. It concluded the "only reasonable construction of this wording" is that Attorneys were "signing solely in the capacity of attorneys who had reviewed the settlement agreement and had given their clients professional approval to sign it." (Opn. at 17.) Relying on two cases – *RSUI Indemnity Co. v. Bacon* (2011) 282 Neb. 436 (hereafter "*RSUI*") and *Freedman v. Brutzkus* (2010) 182 Cal.App.4th 1065 (hereafter "*Freedman*") – the Court of Appeal concluded as a matter of law that Attorneys were not bound by the confidentiality provisions. But *RSUI* and *Freedman* involved different legal and factual issues. Neither applied established

principles of contract law or involved extrinsic evidence such as the evidence in this case that Attorneys agreed to be bound by the confidentiality provisions at issue.

This case also raises the issue of what weight, if any, should be given to this extrinsic evidence, which was presented in support of a breach of contract claim in response to an anti-SLAPP motion brought under Code of Civil Procedure section 425.16. Here, Monster presented evidence that Mr. Schechter, as a member of Attorneys' law firm, admitted to the blog reporter that he could not disclose the terms of the settlement, but then advised her the case had settled for "substantial dollars." (CT at 45.)³ But rather than accept (or even address) Monster's argument that this statement was an admission that Attorneys are bound by the confidentiality provisions in the Settlement Agreement, the Court of Appeal accepted Attorneys' explanation that Mr. Schechter's comment was motivated by some ethical duty to their clients. (Opn. at 16, fn. 2.)

The Court of Appeal also failed to consider how potential application of principles of contract law could impact interpretation of Mr. Schechter's signature to the Settlement Agreement. It failed to address how a jury or trial court would react to Mr. Schechter's strained attempt to explain that he only approved the content of the confidentiality provisions as they apply to his firm's clients, but not their content as they apply to him and his law firm. (CT at 117-118.) And the Court of Appeal gave no consideration to whether a trier of fact could reasonably conclude that an attorney's approval of the

³ Mr. Schechter apparently felt (mistakenly) that he was only obligated not to disclose the amount of the settlement.

content of a settlement agreement, the content of which contains provisions explicitly binding on the attorney, is evidence the attorney agreed to be bound by these provisions.

Previous decisions by this Court set out a substantive rule that the probability-of-success prong under California's anti-SLAPP statute should be subject to a minimal merit test that is the equivalent of a summary judgment in reverse. (*Baral v. Schnitt* (2016) 1 Cal.5th 376, 384-385 (hereafter "*Baral*"); *Oasis West Realty, LLC v. Goldman* (2011) 51 Cal.4th 811, 820 (hereafter "*Oasis West*").) The Court of Appeal's failure to review or even acknowledge the evidence supporting Monster's breach of contract claim violates this rule. The evidence presented by Monster was entitled to the benefit of the doubt and was sufficient to establish a prima facie case for breach of contract. A court deciding an anti-SLAPP motion should not be free to ignore extrinsic evidence that supports the plaintiff's claim, or to accept the defendant's interpretation of an undisputed but ambiguous fact over a plausible interpretation offered by the plaintiff.

The trial court in this case properly found that Monster had satisfied the probability-of-success standard for its breach of contract claim against Attorneys. At a minimum, Mr. Schechter's signature on the Settlement Agreement under the legend "APPROVED AS TO FORM AND CONTENT," when coupled with his acknowledgement that he could not disclose the terms of the settlement, was sufficient to satisfy the minimal merit standard.

The Court should reverse the decision of the Court of Appeal. The trial court's denial of Attorneys' anti-SLAPP motion as to Monster's cause of action for breach of contract should be affirmed.

III. FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

A. The Underlying Wrongful Death Action

Wendy Crossland and Richard Fournier (“Fourniers”) brought a lawsuit in 2012 against Monster for the alleged wrongful death of their daughter based on claims of product liability. (O.Br. at 7.) Attorneys (Bruce L. Schechter and his law firm, R. Rex Parris Law Firm) represented the Fourniers in their wrongful death action. (*Ibid.*)

B. The Settlement Agreement

The Fourniers and Monster reached a settlement of the wrongful death action and entered into the Settlement Agreement on July 29, 2015. (SSCT at 22-33.) The Settlement Agreement contains provisions acknowledging that it was the result of “extensive good faith negotiations between the Parties through their respective counsel” and was entered into on behalf of the “settling parties, individually, as well as on behalf of their . . . attorneys, . . .” (SSCT at 26 [§ 7.01] and 22 [p. 1, second ¶].) The Settlement Agreement contains a release of claims by each party against the other, as well as the other side’s attorneys. (SSCT at 23-24 [§§ 1.1, 1.2].)

The Settlement Agreement also contains confidentiality provisions under which the Fourniers, “and their counsel” (i.e., Attorneys) agreed that “the terms, conditions and details” of the Settlement Agreement, “including its existence are to remain confidential” and they will not make any statements about the settlement to the media, including to an entity identified as “Lawyers & Settlements.” (SSCT at 27 [§ 11.1].) The “Parties and their

attorneys” further agreed that any comments made about the settlement would be limited to the following: “This matter has been resolved” or “words to their effect.” (SSCT at 28 [§§ 11.1, 11.2, and 11.3].)

The Settlement Agreement was executed on behalf of Attorneys by Mr. Schechter under the legend “APPROVED AS TO FORM AND CONTENT.” (SSCT at 32-33; CT at 115.) Mr. Schechter conceded that he served as lead counsel for the R. Rex Parris Law Firm in the Fourniers’ case and was never told that he was not authorized to sign the Settlement Agreement in that capacity. (CT at 114-115.) Before signing the Settlement Agreement, he reviewed it in its entirety, including the confidentiality provisions in sections 11.1, 11.2, and 11.3, which he approved. (CT at 116-124.) Mr. Schechter acknowledged he was aware that Monster would not have settled the Fourniers’ action without these confidentiality provisions. (CT at 119-120.) The Settlement Agreement provides that each party “cooperated in [its] drafting and preparation.” (SSCT at 27 [§ 9.0].)

C. Monster Sues Attorneys For Breach Of The Settlement Agreement

On September 15, 2015, an article appeared on LawyersandSettlements.com that described the settlement of the Fourniers’ wrongful death action against Monster. The article was entitled “ ‘Substantial Dollars’ for Family in Monster Energy Drink Wrongful Death Suit.” (CT at 149.) LawyersandSettlements.com is a lead-generating website for attorneys that describes itself as having “forwarded hundreds of thousands of requests for legal representation

directly to lawyers.” (CT at 156.)

Mr. Schechter is identified in the article as “a veteran attorney with a lot of experience dealing with executives and taking depositions from executives from Monster Energy Drink Company.” The article reports that “Schechter’s most recent case resulted in ‘substantial dollars’ for the family of a 14-year old that went to a mall with girlfriends in the summer of 2011, drank two Monster Energy Drinks and died of cardiac arrest.” (CT at 149.)

The LawyersandSettlements.com article also describes Mr. Schechter as “a master litigator in the fight for compensation on behalf of a number of families who have had loved ones injured or die after consuming the highly caffeinated beverage.” (CT at 149.) Immediately below the article is an advertisement that offers “Monster Energy Drink Injury Legal Help” at no cost. (*Ibid.*)

The author of the article, Brenda A. Craig, was deposed and provided a sworn affidavit that established she interviewed Mr. Schechter on September 4, 2015. She confirmed the accuracy of the statements attributed to Mr. Schechter in the article. (CT at 141-144, 149-150, 153-154.)

On September 25, 2015, Monster filed this case against Attorneys. (AR at 1.) Monster alleged causes of action for breach of contract, breach of covenant of good faith, unjust enrichment, and promissory estoppel. Each cause of action was based on the ground that Mr. Schechter’s statements to Ms. Craig about the settlement of the Fourniers’ lawsuit violate the confidentiality provisions of the Settlement Agreement. (AR at 3-12.)

D. Attorneys' Anti-SLAPP Motion

On October 23, 2015, Attorneys filed a Special Motion to Strike under Code of Civil Procedure section 425.16. (CT at 1.) Attorneys contended that Monster had brought a strategic lawsuit against public participation. They claimed Mr. Schechter's statements to Ms. Craig regarding the settlement of the Fourniers' wrongful death action amounted to protected activity in furtherance of Mr. Schechter's constitutional right of free speech related to an issue of public interest. They also argued that Monster could not establish a probability it will prevail on any of its claims. (CT at 3, 6-18.)

Attorneys' core argument in support of their anti-SLAPP motion was that they were not parties to the Settlement Agreement and had never agreed to be bound by its confidentiality provisions. Attorneys contended they simply gave approval for the Fourniers to sign the Settlement Agreement. (CT at 12-13.) Although Attorneys acknowledged Mr. Schechter had told Ms. Craig that he could not disclose the terms of the settlement, they attempted to excuse this statement as motivated by Mr. Schechter's desire to protect his clients and avoid potential litigation against them. (CT at 128-129.) Mr. Schechter did not deny telling Ms. Craig that the wrongful death action had settled for "substantial dollars," but claimed he had no memory of making this statement. (CT at 45.)

The record on the anti-SLAPP motion also contains deposition testimony by Mr. Schechter in which he attempted to narrow his approval of the content of the Settlement Agreement to only those provisions applicable to the Fourniers, excluding from his approval the content applicable to Attorneys:

Q. Did you approve the content of the confidentiality provisions in Section 11.1 of the agreement?

A. As it relates to my clients, yes.

Q. And if you take a look at that Section 11.1, more specifically, the second sentence of the first paragraph of Section 11.1 provides that “plaintiff and their counsel agree that they will keep completely confidential all of the terms and contents of this settlement agreement.” Do you see that?

A. I see that.

Q. Did you approve that?

A. What do you mean did I approve it? Did I approve it as to this was written in English and that my client should understand it, yes. Did I sign off on it, no.

Q. Did you approve the content that I just read to you?

A. I approved this as to form, and I approved it as to content as it relates to my clients who are a party, as it says in the first sentence, which you did not discuss with me, “The parties understand and acknowledge that all of the terms.”

And if you go back to the agreement where it starts with “Agreement, wherefore in consideration of the covenants and agreements expressed herein, and the recitals set forth above which form a part of and are incorporated into this agreement, the parties hereto agree as follows,” I’m not a party to the agreement, sir.

(CT at 117-119.)

The trial court conducted a hearing on the anti-SLAPP motion on June 15, 2016. (RT 1-24; CT at 207-232.) It found Attorneys had met their initial burden of showing that Mr. Schechter's statements were protected speech addressing the public interest in safety. (RT 3:1-4:20; CT at 210-211.) The trial court also found, however, that Monster had met its burden of establishing a probability of success on its cause of action for breach of contract. (RT 4:21-7:18; CT at 211-214.) The trial court denied Attorneys' anti-SLAPP motion as to Monster's cause of action for breach of contract, but granted the motion as to Monster's other causes of action. (RT 23:5-12; CT at 196, 230, 235-236.)

E. The Court Of Appeal's Decision

The Court of Appeal filed its decision in this case on August 13, 2018. A copy is attached as Exhibit A to Monster's Petition for Review. The decision reversed the trial court's order denying Attorneys' anti-SLAPP motion as to Monster's cause of action for breach of contract. It directed the trial court, on remand, to enter an order granting the anti-SLAPP motion in its entirety. (Opn. at 22.)

The Court of Appeal concluded that, as a matter of law, an attorney's signature on a settlement agreement under the words "Approved as to form and content" is not sufficient to bind the attorney to the terms of a confidentiality provision in the agreement, regardless of whether this provision is explicitly binding on the attorney. (Opn. at 1-2, 17, 20-21.) It accepted the trial court's determination that Mr. Schechter's comments to LawyersandSettlements.com did not fall within the commercial-

speech exemption to the anti-SLAPP statute. (Opn. at 11-12.) It then moved to the issue of whether Monster had shown a probability of success on its cause of action for breach of contract.

The Court of Appeal concluded that Attorneys' approval of the content of the Settlement Agreement did not bind them to the terms of the confidentiality provisions. It found the "only reasonable construction" of the "APPROVED AS TO FORM AND CONTENT" legend was that it signaled Attorneys' "professional approval" for the Fourniers to sign the Settlement Agreement. The Court of Appeal noted that "[i]n our experience, this is the wording that the legal community customarily uses for this purpose." (Opn. at 17.)

The Court of Appeal did not explicitly discuss Mr. Schechter's statement to Ms. Craig that he could not disclose the terms of the Settlement Agreement. But it did note Mr. Schechter's claim that he had a duty to his clients not to expose them to potential litigation. (Opn. at 16, fn. 2.) The Court of Appeal gave no consideration to Mr. Schechter's awkward attempt in his deposition testimony to explain that he had only approved the content of the Settlement Agreement as it applied to his clients, but not the content as it applied to him and his law firm. (CT at 117-119.) And the Court of Appeal did not address the issue of whether an attorney's approval of the content of an agreement, the content of which includes provisions imposing obligations on the attorney, could reasonably be construed as an agreement by the attorney to be bound by these provisions.

The Court of Appeal's Opinion is anchored to *RSUI, supra*, 282 Neb. 436 and *Freedman, supra*, 182 Cal.App.4th 1065. The Court of Appeal acknowledged that *Freedman* is "not on point," but described

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