# SUPREME COURT FILED

FEB 1 9 2019

### No. S251392

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA puty

<del>CRC</del> (8.25(b)

### BRUCE L. SCHECHTER, et al.

Defendants and Appellants,

vs.

#### MONSTER ENERGY COMPANY

Plaintiff and Respondent.

## ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District,
Division Two, Case No. E066267
Riverside County Superior Court, Case No. RIC 1511553
Hon. Daniel A. Ottolia

\*Margaret M. Grignon (SBN 76621)
Anne M. Grignon (SBN 230355)
GRIGNON LAW FIRM LLP
6621 E. Pacific Coast Highway
Suite 200
Long Beach, California 90803
Telephone: 562.285.3171
Fax: 562.453.3571
mgrignon@grignonlawfirm.com

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

#### LEGAL ARGUMENT

A. Monster Energy Failed to Demonstrate A Probability Of Prevailing On Its Breach Of Contract Claim Or That Its Claim Had Even Minimal Merit

Monster Energy failed to persuade the Court of Appeal and fails to persuade in its Opening Brief on the Merits in this Court that it met its burden under the second prong of the anti-SLAPP statute (Code Civ. Proc., § 425.16, subd. (b)(1)) to present evidence that its breach of contract cause of action against the Attorneys was legally sufficient and had at least minimal merit. (Oasis West Realty, LLC v. Goldman (2011) 51 Cal.4th 811, 819-820 (Oasis); Navellier v. Sletten (2002) 29 Cal.4th 82, 88-89 (Navellier) [in opposing an anti-SLAPP motion, a plaintiff must demonstrate its cause of action is legally sufficient and supported by a prima-facie showing].) Monster Energy presented not a

scintilla of evidence that the Attorneys consented to be contractually bound to Monster Energy. An appellate court reviews an order granting an anti-SLAPP motion de novo. (*Oasis*, supra, 51 Cal.4th at p. 820.)

To begin, an attorney's approval of an agreement for a client "as to form and content" does not constitute the attorney's consent to be contractually bound to the other party. (ABOM, IV, B.) Second, Monster Energy presented no evidence of any outward manifestation of the Attorneys' consent to be bound that was communicated to Monster Energy. (ABOM, IV, D.) Third, the Attorneys were not Parties to the Settlement Agreement pursuant to the express provisions of the agreement. (ABOM, IV, E.) Fourth, the mediation privilege precludes Monster Energy from disclosing any words or conduct of the Attorneys, or inferences therefrom, that occurred in connection with the mediation. (ABOM, IV, G.) Fifth, Monster Energy presented no clear and compelling evidence that the Attorneys voluntarily relinquished their First Amendment right to speak. (ABOM, IV, C.) Sixth, the Attorneys did not sign a writing as a Party that would satisfy the statute of frauds. (ABOM, IV F.) Finally, Monster Energy has waived its argument that extrinsic evidence was admissible and, in any event, presented no evidence (extrinsic or otherwise) that demonstrated an outward manifestation of the Attorneys' consent to be bound that was communicated to Monster Energy at the time of the Settlement Agreement. (ABOM IV, G.)

Contrary to Monster Energy's argument, there is no evidence that the Attorneys being sued negotiated the Settlement Agreement. To the contrary, the only evidence is that it was negotiated between Monster Energy's attorney and Anais's parents' Maryland attorneys. (CT 115.) As Attorney Schechter stated, and the Court of Appeal agreed, the Settlement Agreement was confidential and the Attorneys had ethical and professional obligations to maintain its confidentiality—but the Attorneys did not owe contractual obligations to Monster Energy. (Opn. 16 & fn. 2.) Simply put, Monster Energy's breach of contract cause of action is legally insufficient as a matter of law—there is no conflicting evidence and there are no conflicting inferences, and the Court of Appeal made no credibility determinations.

B. The Attorneys' Signature On The Settlement Agreement Under The Legend "Approved As To Form And Content" Does Not Constitute Consent To Be Contractually Bound To Monster Energy

In accord with existing case law in California and other jurisdictions, the Court of Appeal concluded that, when an attorney approves an agreement as to form and content, the attorney is not agreeing to be contractually bound. (Opn. 17-20.) Specifically, the Court of Appeal held: "The only reasonable construction of this wording ["Approved as to form and content"] is that [the Attorneys] were signing solely in the capacity of attorneys who had reviewed the settlement agreement and had given their clients their professional approval to sign it. In our experience,

this is the wording that the legal community customarily uses for this purpose." (Opn. 17.)

In reaching this conclusion, the Court of Appeal relied primarily on two cases, one from California and the other from the Nebraska Supreme Court—each case concluding that an attorney's signature under the legend "approved as to form and content" does not bind the attorney to the agreement. There is no conflict in the law.

In Freedman v. Brutzkus (2010) 182 Cal. App. 4th 1065, 1068 (Freedman), the parties were attorneys who had represented opposing clients (licensors and an apparel manufacturer) in negotiating a trademark license agreement. (Ibid.) The license agreement included a signature block for the attorneys under the legend approved as to form and content. (Ibid.) A dispute later arose between the licensors and the apparel manufacturer, which declared bankruptcy after entering into the agreement. (Ibid.) The licensors, previously represented by the manufacturer's attorney in other matters, alleged they had relied on the apparel manufacturer's attorney's representation that the manufacturer would be able to pay them. (Ibid.) The apparel manufacturer's attorney then brought suit against the licensors' attorney, alleging that in approving the agreement as to form and content, the licensors' attorney had made an actionable misrepresentation to him regarding the agreement's accuracy. (Ibid.)

The Freedman Court of Appeal affirmed the trial dismissal on demurrer and rejected the apparel court's manufacturer attorney's argument, explaining, "the reasonable meaning to be given to a recital that counsel approves the agreement as to form and content, is that the attorney, in so stating, asserts that he or she is the attorney for this particular party, and that the document is in the proper form and embodies the deal that was made between the parties." (Freedman, supra, 182 Cal.App.4th at p. 1070.) Further, "this recital indicates that an attorney has advised or is advising his or her own client of the attorney's approval of the document's form and content, and does not, by itself, operate as a representation to an opposing party's attorney that can provide a basis for tort liability." (Id. at p. 1067.) Such an approval is given solely to the attorney's client. (Id. at p. 1070.) "An attorney cannot approve an agreement or give a legal opinion on behalf of an opposing party." (Ibid.)Holding an attorney liable to the opposing party under these circumstances "would upend the meaning of a common legal practice, and potentially interfere with attorneys' absolute duty of loyalty to their own clients." (Id. at p. 1071, citing Fireman's Fund Ins. Co. v. McDonald, Hecht & Solberg (1994) 30 Cal.App.4th 1373, 1383 ["Because of the inherent character of the attorney-client relationship, it has been jealously guarded and restricted to only the parties involved.' [Citation.]"].)

Similarly, in *RSUI Indem. Co. v. Bacon* (2011) 282 Neb. 436, 437-38 [810 N.W.2d 666] (*RSUI*), the Nebraska Supreme

Court applied the reasoning of Freedman to a settlement agreement. (Ibid.) There, a general contractor entered into a settlement with an injured employee of a subcontractor. (Id. at p. 438.) The settlement agreement provided that, in the event the employee subsequently settled with the subcontractor, the employee and his attorney would pay the general contractor's insurer a specified amount. (Id. at pp. 437-438.) The employee's attorney signed the settlement agreement under a legend "Agreed to in Form & Substance." (Id. at p. 438.) Later, the employee received a settlement from the subcontractor but neither the employee nor the employee's attorney paid the general contractor's insurer the specified amount. (Id. at p. 439.) The insurer then sued the employee and the employee's attorney for breach of contract and obtained a judgment against them. (Ibid.) Nebraska Supreme Court reversed the judgment against the attorney, explaining the attorney's "signature under the legend 'Agreed to in Form & Substance' demonstrates only that he was [the employee's] attorney and that 'the document [was] in the proper form and embodie[d] the deal that was made between the parties." (Id. at pp. 440-444.)

Cases in other contexts have similarly construed the language "approved as to form and content" as a non-substantive provision indicating that the client is represented by counsel and, counsel has approved the content of the document as to the client's interests, and any agreement was reached on an arms-length basis. (See *In re Marriage of Hasso* (1991) 229 Cal.App.3d 1174,

1181-1182 [marital settlement agreement with signature line for parties' attorneys to sign as to form and content is enforceable between the parties even without attorney's signature]; Ahrenberg Mechanical Contracting, Inc. v. Howlett (Mich. 1996) 545 N.W.2d 4, 5-6 [court order approved by losing party's attorney as to form and content does not waive the losing party's right to appeal]; Krin v. Ioor (Mich. 1934) 253 N.W. 318 [same where the language was approved as to substance and form]; Albright v. District Court of Denver (1962) 150 Colo. 487, 490-491 [court rule requiring attorney to approve order as to form and content valid because it does not constitute approval of the order's legal effect or application of the substantive law]; CIC Property Owners v. Marsh (5th Cir. 2006) 460 F.3d 670, 672-673 [agreement was fair and reasonable where each party had opportunity to consult with counsel, voluntarily executed the agreement after consulting with counsel, agreement was reviewed by counsel, and counsel approved the agreement as to form and content].)

In sum, the case authority is well settled that an attorney's signature under the legend "approved as to form and content" is non-substantive and does not constitute the attorney's consent to be contractually bound. Neither in the Court of Appeal nor in this Court has Monster Energy cited a single case holding to the contrary. Instead, Monster Energy relies on forms in practice guides, an attorney's blog post, and sample agreements, none of which address the consent question at issue here and are

in any event not legal precedent. (OBOM 9-10.)4 Nothing in these secondary sources suggests this Court should change the prevailing legal principle and the effect attorneys have relied upon as a matter of custom. Applying general principles of contract law, the Court of Appeal properly held an attorney who approves an agreement for his or her client "as to form and content" does not agree to be contractually bound to the other party.

#### C. A Waiver Of A Person's First Amendment Right To Speak Must Be Clear And Compelling

Moreover, distorting the effect of an attorney's signature under the legend "approved as to form and content" would be particularly inappropriate in the context of a waiver of the fundamental First Amendment right to speak. The law is clear that a person may waive his, her or its First Amendment free speech rights only by a clear and compelling relinquishment of them. (ITT Telecom Products Corp. v. Dooley (1989) 214

<sup>4</sup> Croskey et al., Cal. Practice Guide: Insurance Litigation (The Rutter Group 2017), Form 15: C is a form settlement agreement that has a legend for the attorney to approve as to form and content, with no statement on what legal effect this provision has on the attorney. Chin et al., Cal. Practice Guide: Employment Litigation (The Rutter Group 2017), Form 16: A is another form settlement agreement that does not even include the approved as to form and content legend. Rutan & Tucker LLP, First Amendment/anti-SLAPP did not insulate law firm from liability for violation of confidentiality clause in mediated settlement agreement (July 2, 2013) is an attorney blog that does not mention whether the attorney signed the settlement agreement. Lewis, Settlement Template <a href="https://www.mediatorjudge.com/pg13.cfm">www.mediatorjudge.com/pg13.cfm</a> is an inactive site.

Cal.App.3d 307, 319; Ferlauto v. Hamisher (1999) 74 Cal.App.4th 1394, 1399-1400; City of Glendale v. George (1989) 208 Cal.App.3d 1394, 1398; Sanchez v. County of San Bernardino (2009) 176 Cal.App.4th 516, 528 (Sanchez).) In this regard, an attorney's waiver of his or her First Amendment free speech rights is akin to a party's waiver of his or her right to a jury trial by agreeing to arbitration. As the case law requires, a person waives such important constitutional rights only by a clear relinquishment of them. (Esparza v. Sand & Sea, Inc. (2016) 2 Cal.App.5th 781, 790 (Esparza).)

Monster Energy's reliance on three cases for the proposition that a contract party may waive his, her or its right to speak by validly contracting not to speak is misplaced. (OBOM 31-32.) Unlike this case, each of the cases upon which Monster Energy relies involves parties to agreements. (Navellier, supra, 29 Cal.4th at p. 90 [defendant allegedly breached release of claims agreement to which he was a party by filing counterclaims in a federal action]; Paul v. Friedman (2002) 95 Cal.App.4th 853, 858, 869 [attorney representing 11 clients, where attorney personally entered into a confidentiality agreement prior to a mediation, allegedly breached the agreement]; Sanchez, supra, 176 Cal.App.4th at p. 528 [county allegedly breached confidentiality provision of severance agreement to which it was a party].) The Attorneys are not Parties to the Settlement Agreement.

Here, Monster Energy presented no evidence of the

Attorneys' clear relinquishment of their First Amendment rights. To the contrary, the evidence is undisputed that the Attorneys signed the Settlement Agreement only under the legend "approved as to form and content" and, at the time of Attorney Schechter's signature, well settled legal authority held that such language did not constitute an attorney's consent to be contractually bound by an agreement. Under these circumstances, the attorneys could not have manifested a clear intent to waive their First Amendment constitutional free speech rights.

#### D. There Is Also No Evidence That The Attorneys Otherwise Objectively Manifested Consent To Be Bound By The Confidentiality Provisions Of The Settlement Agreement

In addition to the non-substantive effect of the Attorneys' "approval as to form and content," there also is no evidence of any communication to Monster Energy of the Attorneys' consent to be contractually bound. As the Court of Appeal noted, the Settlement Agreement stated, "Plaintiffs and their counsel agree that they will keep completely confidential all of the terms and contents of this Settlement Agreement." (Opn. 14.) "Plaintiffs and their counsel of record ... agree and covenant, absolutely and without limitation, to not publicly disclose" the terms of the Settlement Agreement. (Opn. 14.) And the Settlement Agreement stated, "the Parties and their attorneys ... hereby agree that neither shall make any statement about the Action ... in the media...." (Opn. 14.)

But as the Court of Appeal correctly concluded, the Attorneys did not consent to be contractually bound by the Settlement Agreement. (Opn. 14, 20.) "An essential element of any contract is the mutual consent of the parties." (Harshad & Nasir Corp. v. Global Sign Systems, Inc. (2017) 14 Cal.App.5th 523, 537 (Harshad); see also Weddington Productions, Inc. v. Flick (1998) 60 Cal.App.4th 793, 811 (Weddington); Pinnacle v. Museum Tower Assn. v. Pinnacle Market Development (US), LLC (2012) 55 Cal.4th 223, 236; Donovan v. RRL Corp. (2001) 26 Cal.4th 261, 270-271; Civ. Code, §§ 1550, 1565.) "Without mutual assent, there is no contract." (Merced County Sheriff's Employees' Ass'n v. County of Merced (1987) 188 Cal.App.3d 662, 670.)

Nor did the Attorneys ever communicate to Monster Energy any consent to be bound. (Opn. 13-14.) "Further, the consent of the parties to a contract must be communicated by each party to the other." (Esparza, supra, 2 Cal.App.5th at p. 788; Harshad, supra, 14 Cal.App.5th at p. 539; Civ. Code, § 1565.) Consent must be objectively communicated. (Weddington, supra, 60 Cal.App.4th at p. 811.) "The existence of mutual consent is determined by objective rather than subjective criteria, the test being what the outward manifestations of consent would lead a reasonable person to believe.' [Citation.] Outward manifestations thus govern the finding of mutual consent required ... for contract formation. [Citation.] The parties' outward manifestations must show that the parties all agreed 'upon the same thing in the same sense." (Ibid.)

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